NASA/TM-2005-212793



The Radiation Environment for the LISA/Laser Interferometry Space Antenna

Janet L. Barth, Michael Xapsos, and Christian Poivey

The NASA STI Program Office ... in Profile

Since its founding, NASA has been dedicated to the advancement of aeronautics and space science. The NASA Scientific and Technical Information (STI) Program Office plays a key part in helping NASA maintain this important role.

The NASA STI Program Office is operated by Langley Research Center, the lead center for NASA's scientific and technical information. The NASA STI Program Office provides access to the NASA STI Database, the largest collection of aeronautical and space science STI in the world. The Program Office is also NASA's institutional mechanism for disseminating the results of its research and development activities. These results are published by NASA in the NASA STI Report Series, which includes the following report types:

- TECHNICAL PUBLICATION. Reports of completed research or a major significant phase of research that present the results of NASA programs and include extensive data or theoretical analysis. Includes compilations of significant scientific and technical data and information deemed to be of continuing reference value. NASA's counterpart of peer-reviewed formal professional papers but has less stringent limitations on manuscript length and extent of graphic presentations.
- TECHNICAL MEMORANDUM. Scientific and technical findings that are preliminary or of specialized interest, e.g., quick release reports, working papers, and bibliographies that contain minimal annotation. Does not contain extensive analysis.
- CONTRACTOR REPORT. Scientific and technical findings by NASA-sponsored contractors and grantees.

- CONFERENCE PUBLICATION. Collected papers from scientific and technical conferences, symposia, seminars, or other meetings sponsored or cosponsored by NASA.
- SPECIAL PUBLICATION. Scientific, technical, or historical information from NASA programs, projects, and mission, often concerned with subjects having substantial public interest.
- TECHNICAL TRANSLATION. English-language translations of foreign scientific and technical material pertinent to NASA's mission.

Specialized services that complement the STI Program Office's diverse offerings include creating custom thesauri, building customized databases, organizing and publishing research results . . . even providing videos.

For more information about the NASA STI Program Office, see the following:

- Access the NASA STI Program Home Page at http://www.sti.nasa.gov/STI-homepage.html
- E-mail your question via the Internet to help@sti.nasa.gov
- Fax your question to the NASA Access Help Desk at (301) 621-0134
- Telephone the NASA Access Help Desk at (301) 621-0390
- Write to: NASA Access Help Desk NASA Center for AeroSpace Information 7121 Standard Drive Hanover, MD 21076–1320

NASA/TM-2005-212793



The Radiation Environment for the LISA/Laser Interferometry Space Antenna

Janet L. Barth and Michael Xapsos NASA/Goddard Space Flight Center, Greenbelt, Maryland

Christian Poivey Muniz Engineering Inc., Seabrook, Maryland

National Aeronautics and Space Administration

Goddard Space Flight Center Greenbelt, Maryland 20771

Available from:

NASA Center for AeroSpace Information 7121 Standard Drive Hanover, MD 21076-1320 Price Code: A17 National Technical Information Service 5285 Port Royal Road Springfield, VA 22161 Price Code: A10

Table of Contents

I	Introduction 3
II	
III	
IV	
V	
A.	DEGRADATION ENVIRONMENT 6
1.	The Plasma Environment 6
2.	High Energy Particles – Spacecraft Incident Fluences 6
3.	High Energy Particles – Shielded Fluences 7
В.	TOTAL DOSE ESTIMATES 8
1.	Top Level Ionizing Dose Requirement 8
2.	Dose at Specific Spacecraft Locations 9
C.	DISPLACEMENT DAMAGE ESTIMATES 10
VI	Single Event Effects Analysis 11
A.	HEAVY ION INDUCED SINGLE EVENT EFFECTS 11
1.	Galactic Cosmic Rays 11
2.	Solar Heavy Ions 12
В.	PROTON INDUCED SINGLE EVENT EFFECTS 12
1.	Trapped Protons 13
2.	Solar Protons 13
VII	
VIII	
IX	
Appendi	ces 1

I. Introduction

The purpose of this document is to define the radiation environment for the evaluation of degradation due to total ionizing and non-ionizing dose and of single event effects (SEEs) for the Laser Interferometry Space Antenna (LISA) instruments and spacecraft. The analysis took into account the radiation exposure for the nominal five-year mission at 20 degrees behind Earth's orbit of the sun, at 1 AU (astronomical unit) and assumes a launch date in 2014. The transfer trajectory out to final orbit has not yet been defined, therefore, this evaluation does not include the impact of passing through the Van Allen belts. Generally, transfer trajectories do not contribute significantly to degradation effects; however, single event effects and deep dielectric charging effects must be taken into consideration especially if critical maneuvers are planned during the Van Allen belt passes.

II. Radiation Environment

The natural space radiation environment of concern for damage to spacecraft electronics is classified into two populations, 1) the transient particles which include protons and heavier ions of all of the elements of the periodic table, and 2) the trapped particles which include protons, electrons and heavier ions. The trapped electrons have energies up to 10 MeV and the trapped protons and heavier ions have energies up to 100s of MeV. The transient radiation consists of galactic cosmic ray particles and particles from solar events (coronal mass ejections and flares). The cosmic rays have low-level fluxes with energies up to TeV. The solar eruptions periodically produce energetic protons, alpha particles, heavy ions, and electrons. The solar protons have energies up to 100's MeV and the heavier ions reach the GeV range. All particle fluxes are isotropic and omnidirectional to the first order.

Space also contains low energy plasma of electrons and protons with fluxes up to 10^{12} cm²/sec. The plasmasphere environment and the low energy (< 0.1 MeV) component of the charged particles are a concern in the near-earth environment. In the outer regions of the magnetosphere and in interplanetary space, the plasma is associated with the solar wind. Because of its low energy, thin layers of material easily stop the plasma so it is not a hazard to most spacecraft electronics. However, it is damaging to surface materials and differentials in the plasma environment can contribute to spacecraft surface charging and discharging problems [1,2].

III. Description of Radiation Effects

Radiation effects that are important to consider for instrument and spacecraft design fall roughly into three categories: degradation from total ionizing dose (TID), degradation from non-ionizing energy loss (NIEL), and single event effects (SEE). Total ionizing dose in electronics is a cumulative, long-term degradation mechanism due to ionizing radiation—mainly primary protons and electrons and secondary particles arising from interactions between these primary particles and spacecraft materials. It causes threshold shifts, leakage current and timing skews. The effect first appears as parametric degradation of the device and ultimately results in functional failure. It is possible to reduce TID with shielding material that absorbs most electrons and lower energy protons. As shielding is increased, shielding effectiveness decreases because of the difficulty in slowing down the higher energy protons. When a manufacturer advertises a part as "rad-hard", he is almost always referring to its total ionizing dose characteristics. Rad-hard does not

usually imply that the part is hard to non-ionizing dose or single event effects. In some cases, a "rad-hard" part may perform significantly worse in the space radiation environment than in the test environment (e.g. Enhanced Low Dose Rate Sensitivity in linear bipolar devices.)

Displacement damage is cumulative, long-term non-ionizing damage due to protons, electrons, and neutrons. These particles produce defects in optical materials that result in charge transfer degradation. Displacement damage affects the performance of optocouplers (often a component in power devices), solar cells, CCDs, and linear bipolar devices. The effectiveness of shielding depends on the location of the device. For example, coverglasses over solar cells reduce electron damage and proton damage by absorbing the low energy particles. Increasing shielding beyond a critical threshold, however, is not usually effective for optoelectronic components because the high-energy protons penetrate the most feasible spacecraft electronic enclosures. For detectors in instruments it is necessary to understand the instrument technology and geometry to determine the vulnerability to the environment.

Single event effects (SEE) result from ionization by a single charged particle as it passes through a sensitive junction of an electronic device. SEE are caused by heavier ions, but for some devices, protons can also contribute. In some cases SEEs are induced through direct ionization by the proton, but in most instances, proton induced effects result from secondary particles produced when the proton scatters off of a nucleus in the device material. Some single event effects are non-destructive, as in the case of single event upsets (SEUs), single event transients (SETs), multiple bit errors (MBEs), single event hard errors (SHEs), etc. Single event effects can also be destructive as in the case of single event latchups (SELs), single event gate ruptures (SEGRs), and single event burnouts (SEBs). The severity of the effect can range from noisy data to loss of the mission, depending on the type of effect and the criticality of the system in which it occurs. Shielding is not an effective mitigator for single event effects because they are induced by very penetrating high-energy particles. The preferred method for dealing with destructive failures is to use SEEhard parts. When SEE-hard parts are not available, latchup protection circuitry is sometimes used in conjunction with failure mode analysis. (Note: Care is necessary when using SEL protection circuitry, because SEL may damage a microcircuit and reduce its reliability even when it does not cause outright failure.) For non-destructive effects, mitigation takes the form of error-detection and correction codes (EDACs), filtering circuitry, etc.

Total ionizing dose is primarily caused by protons and electrons trapped in the Van Allen belts and solar event protons. As electrons are slowed down, their interactions with orbital electrons of the shielding material produce a secondary photon radiation known as bremsstrahlung. Generally, the dose due to galactic cosmic ray ions and proton secondaries is negligible compared to other sources. For surface degradation, it is also important to include the effects of very low energy particles.

Single event effects can be induced by heavy ions (solar events and galactic cosmic rays) and, in some devices, protons (trapped and solar events) and neutrons. Displacement damage is primarily due to trapped and solar protons and also neutrons that are produced by interactions of primary particles with the atmosphere and spacecraft materials.^{*} High-energy electrons can also contribute to displacement damage, especially for lightly shielded applications. Spacecraft charging can occur on the surface of the spacecraft due to low energy electrons. Deep dielectric charging occurs when high-energy electrons penetrate the spacecraft and collect in dielectric materials.

^{*} In avionics applications it is necessary to consider neutrons that are produced by interactions of primary particles with the atmosphere.

IV. The LISA Mission

The LISA spacecraft will be transferred out to their final orbit via a trajectory that has not yet been defined. While in the transfer, LISA will pass through the trapped proton and electron belts. These exposures could constitute a single event effect risk during some maneuvers but will not contribute to significant degradation effects. During the transfer trajectory, LISA spacecraft will also encounter varying levels of galactic cosmic ray heavy ions and possibly protons and heavier ions from solar events. It will also be necessary to take the charging effects of the trapped electrons into account.

Once LISA spacecraft reach their final orbit, their mission requirement is 5 years, and their mission goal is 10 years. With an expected 2014 launch year, the LISA mission will occur during the decreasing phase of the active phase of the solar cycle 24 (the peak of the active phase of solar cycle 24 is expected to occur some time between 2012 and 2014) and at the transition to solar cycle 25. During the active phase of the sun, the likelihood that the spacecraft will be exposed to particles from solar events (either solar flare or coronal mass ejections) increases significantly. Based on an average 11-year solar cycle, the LISA mission will encounter 3 years of solar active conditions. The 10 years extended mission will encounter 7 years of solar active conditions. The radiation environment encountered by the LISA spacecraft will consist of protons and heavier ions from solar events, galactic cosmic ray heavy ions, and solar wind plasma consisting of low energy protons, electrons, and heavier ions.

V. Total Dose and Degradation

The total ionizing dose accumulation causes performance degradation and failure on memories, power converters, etc. Non-ionizing energy loss in materials (atomic displacement damage) causes degradation of solar cells, optoelectronics, and detectors. The low energy particles also contribute to the erosion of surfaces.

A. Degradation Environment

1. The Plasma Environment

At LISA orbit, low energy particles from the solar wind plasma contribute to the degradation of surface materials and also cause charging effects. These charging effects should be considered in the spacecraft design. However, the plasma environment does not contribute to significant degradation effects.

2. High Energy Particles – Spacecraft Incident Fluences

The spacecraft incident proton fluence levels given in this document are most often used for standard solar cell analyses that take into account the coverglass thickness of the cell. There are three possible sources of high energy particles: trapped protons and trapped electrons encountered in the transfer trajectory and protons from solar events that can occur anytime during the three to seven solar active years of the mission. The trapped particles encountered in the transfer trajectory cannot be evaluated at this time but are usually not a factor in degradation analyses. The proton fluence levels are also used to determine displacement damage effects, however, most analysis methods require that the surface incident particles be transported through the materials surrounding the sensitive components. The proton fluences behind nominal aluminum shield thicknesses are given in Section V.A.3.

When the transfer trajectory is known, the trapped particle fluxes will be estimated with NASA's AP-8 [3] model for protons and AE-8 [4] model for electrons. The models come in solar minimum and maximum versions. The uncertainty factors defined for the models are a factor of 2 for the AP-8 and 2 to 5 for the AE-8. These uncertainty factors apply to long term averages expected over a 6-month mission duration. Daily values can fluctuate by two to three orders of magnitude depending on the level of activity on the sun and within the magnetosphere.

The solar proton levels can now be estimated from the Emission of Solar Proton (ESP) model [5]. The ESP model is based on satellite data from solar cycles 20, 21, and 22. The distribution of the fluences for the events is obtained from maximum entropy theory, and design limits in the worst case models are obtained from extreme value theory.

Total integral solar proton fluences were estimated for 3 to 7 solar active years with 3 years being the number of years to consider for the nominal mission and 7 years the number of years to consider for the 10 years extended mission. **Table A1** gives the fluence levels as a function of particle energy for 95%

confidence levels. **Figure** 1 is a plot of the energy-fluence spectra for 3 and 7 solar active years for a 95% confidence level. The energies are in units of >MeV and the fluences are in units of particles/cm². These values do not include a design margin. The solar proton predictions are not linear over time; therefore, these estimates may be invalid if extrapolated for longer or shorter mission durations.



Solar Proton Fluence for 3 and 7 Solar Active Years ESP Model, 95% Confidence Level

Figure 1: Solar proton fluences for a 95% confidence level are presented for 3 and 7 solar active years.

3. High Energy Particles – Shielded Fluences

Evaluation of non-ionizing energy loss damage requires the use of shielded fluence levels. For this analysis, nominal shielding thicknesses of 100 mils of aluminum were used for a generic solid sphere geometry. The spacecraft incident, solar proton estimates for the 95% confidence level and for 3 and 7 solar active years were transported through the shield thickness to obtain fluence estimates behind the shielding. **Table A2** gives the degraded energy spectra. The spectra are plotted in **Figure 2**. It can be seen from the figures that even though low energy particles are absorbed by the shielding, the low energy range of the spectrum is filled in by the higher energy protons as they are degraded by passing through the material.



Shielded Integral Solar Proton Fluence for 100 mils (2.54mm) Aluminum 95% Confidence Level - Values Do Not Include Design Margins

Figure 2: Shielded solar proton energy spectra for 100 mils aluminum, 95% confidence level

B. Total Dose Estimates

1. Top Level Ionizing Dose Requirement

Doses are calculated from the surface incident integral fluences as a function of aluminum shield thickness for a simple geometry. The geometry model used for spacecraft applications is the solid sphere. The solid sphere doses represent an upper boundary for the dose inside an actual spacecraft and are used as a top-level requirement. In cases where the amount of shielding surrounding a sensitive location is difficult to estimate, a more detailed analysis of the geometry of the spacecraft structure may be necessary to evaluate the expected dose levels. This is done by modeling the electronic boxes or instruments and the spacecraft structure. The amount of shielding surrounding selected sensitive locations is estimated using solid angle sectoring and 3-dimensional ray tracing. Doses obtained by sectoring methods must be verified for 5-10% of the sensitive locations with full Monte Carlo simulations of particle trajectories through the structure for many histories.

Table A3 and **Figures 3** give the top-level total ionizing dose requirement for the 5 year LISA mission and for the 10 year extended mission. The doses are given for 3 and 7 solar active years for a 95% confidence level. The best estimate at this time predicts 3 solar active years for the nominal mission and 7 solar active years for the extended mission given the 2012 LISA launch. The doses are calculated here as a function of aluminum shield thickness in units of krads in silicon. For the nominal 100 mils of equivalent aluminum shielding and the 5 years nominal mission, the dose requirement is 14 krad-Si with no design margin. For

the nominal 100 mils of equivalent aluminum shielding and the 10 years extended mission, the dose requirement is 29 krad-Si with no design margin A minimum design margin of x 2 is recommended.



Total Dose at the Center of Solid Aluminum Spheres-Top Level Requirement 95% Confidence Level - Values Do Not Include Design Margin

Figure 11: Total ionizing dose from solar proton events for 3 and 7 solar active years

2. Dose at Specific Spacecraft Locations

In cases where parts cannot meet the top level design requirement and a "harder" part cannot be substituted, it is often beneficial to employ more accurate methods of determining the dose exposure for some spacecraft components to qualify the parts. One such method for calculating total dose, solid angle sectoring/3-dimensional ray tracing, is accomplished in three steps:

- 1) Model the spacecraft structure:
 - -develop a 3-D model of the spacecraft structures and components
 - -develop a material library
 - -define sensitive locations
- 2) Model the radiation environment:

 -define the spacecraft incident radiation environment
 -develop a particle attenuation model using theoretical shielding configurations (similar to dose-depth curves).

 3) Obtain results for each sensitive location:
 - -divide the structural model into solid angle sectors
 - -ray trace through the sectors to calculate the material mass distribution
 - -use the ray trace results to calculate total doses from the particle attenuation model.

Once the basic structural model has been defined, total doses can be obtained for any location in the spacecraft in a short time (in comparison to Monte Carlo methods). The value of dose mitigation measures can be accurately evaluated be adding the changes to the model and recalculating the total dose. For spacecraft with strict weight budgets, the 3-D ray trace method, the total dose design requirement can be defined at a box or instrument level avoiding unnecessary use of expensive or increasingly unavailable radiation hardened parts.

As the design of the LISA evolves, it may become necessary to estimate the doses at specific locations in the spacecraft or instruments. Often the dose requirement can be met by modeling the surrounding electronic box only or by modeling only the instrument.

C. Displacement Damage Estimates

Total non-ionizing energy loss damage is evaluated by combining the shielded proton energy spectra given Section V.A.3 with the NIEL Non Ionizing Energy Loss (NIEL) response curves for the material and the results of laboratory radiation of the devices sensitive to atomic displacement damage. The level of the hazard is highly dependent on the device type and can be process specific. For the LISA mission, it is important to keep in mind that some optoelectronic devices experience enough damage during one large solar proton event to cause the device to fail. It is necessary that the parts list screening for radiation also include a check for devices that are susceptible to displacement damage.

VI.Single Event Effects Analysis

A. Heavy Ion Induced Single Event Effects

Some electronic devices are susceptible to single event effects (SEEs), e.g., single event upsets, single event latch-up, single event burn-out. Because, they are highly ionizing and penetrating, energetic GCR and solar heavy ions cause SEEs by the direct deposit of charge. The quantity most frequently used to measure an ion's ability to deposit charge in devices is linear energy transfer (LET). Heavy ion abundances and energy distributions are converted to total LET spectra. Once specific parts are selected for the mission and, if necessary, characterized by laboratory testing, the LET spectra for the heavy ions in the space radiation environment are integrated with the device characterization to calculate SEE rates. Heavy ion populations that have sufficient numbers to be a SEE hazard are the galactic cosmic rays and those from solar events.

1. Galactic Cosmic Rays

The cosmic ray fluxes for elements hydrogen through uranium were used to calculate daily LET spectra for 100 mils nominal aluminum shielding as given in **Table A4** and **Figure 4**. The range of the cosmic ray abundances is bounded by the extremes of the solar active and inactive phases of the solar cycle with the highest values occurring during the solar inactive phase and the lowest during the solar active phase. With the extended mission goal of 10 years, the highest values should be used for single event effects analyses. The LET fluence values are given for the highest and lowest point of the solar cycle. The CREME96 [6] model was used to obtain the cosmic ray heavy ion abundances. This model has an accuracy of 25-40%.





Figure 4: Integral LET spectra are shown for galactic cosmic ray ions hydrogen through uranium.

2. Solar Heavy Ions

The heavy ions from solar flares and coronal mass ejections can also produce single event effects. The solar event fluxes for the elements hydrogen through uranium were used to calculate daily LET spectra for 100 mils nominal aluminum shielding in units of average LET flux per second. The intensity of the fluxes varies over the duration of an event; therefore, values are averaged over the worst week of the solar cycle, the worst day of the solar cycle, and the peak of the October 1989 solar event. **Table A5** and **Figure 5** give the solar heavy ion LET predictions for the LISA mission. The new CREME96 model was also used to calculate the solar heavy ion levels. An uncertainty factor for the solar heavy ion model has not been released.



Integral LET Spectra at 1 AU (Z=1-92) for Interplanetary Solar Particle Events 100 mils Aluminum Shielding, CREME96

Figure 5: Integral LET spectra are shown for hydrogen through uranium for the October 1989 solar particle event.

B. Proton Induced Single Event Effects

In some devices, single event effects are also induced by protons. Protons from the trapped radiation belts and from solar events do not generate sufficient ionization (LET < 1 MeV-cm²/mg) to produce the critical charge necessary for SEEs to occur in most electronics. More typically, protons cause Single Event Effects through secondary particles via nuclear interactions, that is, spallation and fractionation products. Because the proton energy is important in the production (and not the LET) of the secondary particles that cause the SEEs, device sensitivity to these particles is typically expressed as a function of proton energy rather than LET.

1. Trapped Protons

Trapped protons can be a concern for single event effects during the transfer trajectory passes through the trapped particle radiation belts. The proton fluxes in the intense regions of the belts reach levels that are high enough to pose a significant risk for upsets or latchups. The timing of critical operations during the transfer trajectory should be analyzed to determine the trapped proton environment at the time of the operation.

2. Solar Protons

Protons from solar events can also be a single event effects hazard for the LISA spacecraft. These enhanced levels of protons could occur anytime during the 5 to 10 year mission but are most likely during the portion of the mission that occurs during the active phase of the solar cycle. As with the solar heavy ion LET, solar proton fluxes are averaged over worst day, worst week, and the peak of the October 1989 solar event. The proton flux averages for a nominal 100 mils of shielding are given in **Table A6** and are shown in **Figure 6**.



Differential Solar Proton Event Fluxes at 1 AU 100 mils Aluminum Shielding, CREME96

Figure 6: Solar proton fluxes for single event effects evaluation.

VII. Spacecraft Charging and Discharging

Surface charging and deep dielectric charging must also be evaluated for the LISA mission. Both are potential problems in transfer trajectories that take long loops through the Van Allen belts. During these loops, the spacecraft can accumulate high levels of electron build-up on spacecraft surfaces (low energy electrons) in the dielectrics (high energy electrons). Surface charging is also a concern during the entire mission when the spacecraft reaches its final orbit due to the plasma environment.

VIII. Summary

A top-level radiation environment specification was presented for the LISA mission. Although the environment is considered "moderate", the environment poses challenges to mission designers because of its highly variable nature caused by activity on the sun.

Spacecraft and instrument designers must be made aware that some newer technologies and commercialoff-the-shelf (COTS) devices are very soft to radiation effects. COTS devices that lose functionality at 5 krads of dose are not uncommon. One extremely large solar proton event can cause enough displacement damage degradation in some optocoupler devices to cause failure. Increasingly, single event effects require careful part selection and mitigation schemes. With its full exposure to galactic cosmic heavy ions and particles from solar events, LISA must have a carefully planned radiation engineering program.

IX. References

- [1] A. Holmes-Siedle and L. Adams, <u>Handbook of Radiation Effects</u>, p. 16, Oxford University Press, Oxford, 1993.
- [2] A. R. Frederickson, "Upsets Related to Spacecraft Charging," IEEE Trans. on Nucl. Science, Vol. 43, No. 2, pp. 426-441, April 1996.
- [3] D. M. Sawyer and J. I. Vette, "AP-8 Trapped Proton Environment," NSSDC/WDC-A-R&S 76-06, NASA/Goddard Space Flight Center, Greenbelt, MD, December 1991.
- [4] J. I. Vette, "The AE-8 Trapped Electron Model Environment," NSSDC/WDC-A-R&S 91-24, NASA/Goddard Space Flight Center, Greenbelt, MD, November 1991.
- [5] M. A. Xapsos, J. L. Barth, E. G. Stassinopoulos, G. P. Summers, E.A. Burke, G. B. Gee, "Model for Prediction of Solar Proton Events", to be published in Proceedings of the 1999 Space Environment and Effects Workshop, Farnborough, UK.
- [6] A. J. Tylka, J. H. Adams, Jr., P. R. Boberg, W. F. Dietrich, E.O. Flueckiger, E.L. Petersen, M.A. Shea, D.F. Smart, and E.C. Smith, "CREME96: A Revision of the Cosmic Ray Effects on Micro-Electronics Code: to be published in IEEE Trans. On Nuc. Sci., December 1997.

Appendices

Table A1 Spacecraft Incident Solar Proton Fluences for 3 to 7 Solar Active Years Values Do Not Include Design Margins

Energy	Number of Solar Active Years						
	(95% confidence level)						
(> MeV)	3	3 4 5		6	7		
1	5.48E+11	6.80E+11	8.06E+11	9.28E+11	1.05E+12		
3	2.76E+11	3.42E+11	4.04E+11	4.62E+11	5.17E+11		
5	1.87E+11	2.34E+11	2.78E+11	3.19E+11	3.57E+11		
7	1.39E+11	1.76E+11	2.10E+11	2.42E+11	2.72E+11		
10	9.75E+10	1.25E+11	1.50E+11	1.74E+11	1.97E+11		
15	6.15E+10	7.98E+10	9.72E+10	1.14E+11	1.29E+11		
20	4.25E+10	5.57E+10	6.82E+10	8.03E+10	9.19E+10		
25	3.11E+10	4.10E+10	5.05E+10	5.97E+10	6.86E+10		
30	2.36E+10	3.13E+10	3.87E+10	4.59E+10	5.29E+10		
35	1.84E+10	2.45E+10	3.05E+10	3.63E+10	4.19E+10		
40	1.47E+10	1.97E+10	2.45E+10	2.92E+10	3.39E+10		
45	1.20E+10	1.61E+10	2.00E+10	2.39E+10	2.78E+10		
50	9.92E+09	1.33E+10	1.66E+10	1.99E+10	2.31E+10		
55	8.29E+09	1.11E+10	1.40E+10	1.67E+10	1.94E+10		
60	7.01E+09	9.43E+09	1.18E+10	1.42E+10	1.65E+10		
70	5.14E+09	6.94E+09	8.72E+09	1.05E+10	1.22E+10		
80	3.88E+09	5.25E+09	6.61E+09	7.96E+09	9.29E+09		
90	3.00E+09	4.06E+09	5.12E+09	6.17E+09	7.21E+09		
100	2.36E+09	3.20E+09	4.04E+09	4.88E+09	5.71E+09		
125	1.42E+09	1.93E+09	2.44E+09	2.94E+09	3.44E+09		
150	9.22E+08	1.25E+09	1.58E+09	1.90E+09	2.23E+09		
175	6.32E+08	8.56E+08	1.08E+09	1.30E+09	1.53E+09		
200	4.52E+08	6.12E+08	7.73E+08	9.33E+08	1.09E+09		
225	3.33E+08	4.52E+08	5.70E+08	6.88E+08	8.04E+08		
250	2.52E+08	3.41E+08	4.31E+08	5.20E+08	6.08E+08		
275	1.94E+08	2.64E+08	3.33E+08	4.01E+08	4.69E+08		
300	1.53E+08	2.07E+08	2.62E+08	3.16E+08	3.69E+08		

Table A2 Integral Solar Proton Fluence Levels Behind Solid Sphere Aluminum Shields 100 mils (2.54 mm) Aluminum Shielding – 95% Confidence Level Values Do Not Include Design Margins

Degraded Energy	Shielded Solar Proton Fluence			
	3 Solar Active Years	7 Solar Active Years		
(> MeV)	(#/cm ²)	(#/cm ²)		
1.00E-01	3.57E+10	7.79E+10		
1.26E-01	3.57E+10	7.79E+10		
1.58E-01	3.57E+10	7.79E+10		
2.00E-01	3.57E+10	7.79E+10		
2.51E-01	3.57E+10	7.79E+10		
3.16E-01	3.57E+10	7.79E+10		
3.98E-01	3.57E+10	7.78E+10		
5.01E-01	3.57E+10	7.78E+10		
6.31E-01	3.57E+10	7.78E+10		
7.94E-01	3.56E+10	7.77E+10		
1.00E+00	3.56E+10	7.76E+10		
1.26E+00	3.55E+10	7.75E+10		
1.58E+00	3.54E+10	7.73E+10		
2.00E+00	3.53E+10	7.70E+10		
2.51E+00	3.51E+10	7.66E+10		
3.16E+00	3.48E+10	7.59E+10		
3.98E+00	3.43E+10	7.50E+10		
5.01E+00	3.37E+10	7.36E+10		
6.31E+00	3.27E+10	7.18E+10		
7.94E+00	3.16E+10	6.94E+10		
1.00E+01	2.99E+10	6.60E+10		
1.26E+01	2.77E+10	6.14E+10		
1.58E+01	2.48E+10	5.53E+10		
2.00E+01	2.14E+10	4.81E+10		
2.51E+01	1.77E+10	4.02E+10		
3.16E+01	1.39E+10	3.20E+10		
3.98E+01	1.04E+10	2.41E+10		
5.01E+01	7.38E+09	1.73E+10		
6.31E+01	4.88E+09	1.16E+10		
7.94E+01	3.06E+09	7.35E+09		
1.00E+02	1.82E+09	4.41E+09		
1.26E+02	1.03E+09	2.51E+09		
1.58E+02	5.37E+08	1.31E+09		
2.00E+02	2.46E+08	5.94E+08		
2.51E+02	7.24E+07	1.76E+08		

Table A3 Total Ionizing Dose at the Center of Aluminum Spheres Due to Solar Proton Events 95% Confidence Level

Values Do Not Include Design Margins

Aluminum Shield Thickness		3 Solar Active Years	7 Solar Active Years	
g/cm ²	mm	mils	(krad-Si)	(krad-Si)
0.03	0.11	4.37	2.44E+02	4.44E+02
0.04	0.15	5.83	1.93E+02	3.52E+02
0.05	0.19	7.29	1.64E+02	2.99E+02
0.06	0.22	8.75	1.40E+02	2.56E+02
0.08	0.30	11.67	1.11E+02	2.05E+02
0.10	0.37	14.58	9.10E+01	1.70E+02
0.15	0.56	21.87	6.29E+01	1.20E+02
0.20	0.74	29.16	4.87E+01	9.48E+01
0.30	1.11	43.74	3.26E+01	6.50E+01
0.40	1.48	58.31	2.46E+01	5.00E+01
0.50	1.85	72.91	1.90E+01	3.92E+01
0.60	2.22	87.48	1.59E+01	3.33E+01
0.80	2.96	116.65	1.15E+01	2.44E+01
1.00	3.70	145.83	8.81E+00	1.90E+01
1.25	4.63	182.28	6.79E+00	1.48E+01
1.50	5.56	218.74	5.36E+00	1.19E+01
1.75	6.48	255.16	4.35E+00	9.78E+00
2.00	7.41	291.61	3.64E+00	8.30E+00
2.50	9.26	364.53	2.77E+00	6.33E+00
3.00	11.11	437.40	2.15E+00	4.94E+00
3.50	12.96	510.24	1.72E+00	3.97E+00
4.00	14.81	583.07	1.44E+00	3.34E+00
4.50	16.67	656.30	1.21E+00	2.82E+00
5.00	18.52	729.13	1.03E+00	2.42E+00
5.50	20.37	801.97	9.00E-01	2.11E+00
6.00	22.22	874.80	7.77E-01	1.83E+00
6.50	24.07	947.64	6.90E-01	1.63E+00
7.00	25.93	1020.87	6.17E-01	1.47E+00
7.50	27.78	1093.70	5.48E-01	1.31E+00
8.00	29.63	1166.54	4.85E-01	1.15E+00
9.00	33.33	1312.20	4.16E-01	9.94E-01
9.50	35.19	1385.43	3.66E-01	8.81E-01
10.00	37.04	1458.27	3.18E-01	7.69E-01
12.50	46.30	1822.83	2.31E-01	5.60E-01
15.00	55.56	2187.40	1.68E-01	4.07E-01
17.50	64.81	2551.57	1.26E-01	3.05E-01
20.00	74.07	2916.14	9.84E-02	2.38E-01

Table A4 Integral LET for Interplanetary Galactic Cosmic Rays (Z=1-92) 100 mils Aluminum Shielding Values Do Not Include Design Margins

Solar Minin	num Activity	Solar Maximum Activity		
LET	LET Fluence	LET	LET Fluence	
(MeV*cm ² /mg)	(#/cm²/day)	(MeV*cm ² /mg)	(#/cm²/day)	
1.00E-03	4.25E+05	1.00E-03	1.54E+05	
1.65E-03	4.24E+05	1.65E-03	1.54E+05	
1.69E-03	3.29E+05	1.69E-03	1.07E+05	
1.70E-03	3.04E+05	1.70E-03	9.42E+04	
1.72E-03	2.84E+05	1.72E-03	8.46E+04	
1.77E-03	2.54E+05	1.77E-03	7.02E+04	
1.81E-03	2.30E+05	1.81E-03	5.98E+04	
1.85E-03	2.12E+05	1.85E-03	5.20E+04	
1.91E-03	1.90E+05	1.91E-03	4.34E+04	
1.98E-03	1.72E+05	1.98E-03	3.75E+04	
2.01E-03	1.67E+05	2.01E-03	3.59E+04	
2.13E-03	1.46E+05	2.13E-03	3.05E+04	
2.28E-03	1.27E+05	2.28E-03	2.69E+04	
2.53E-03	1.07E+05	2.53E-03	2.39E+04	
3.01E-03	8.29E+04	3.01E-03	2.11E+04	
3.54E-03	6.87E+04	3.54E-03	1.98E+04	
4.52E-03	5.55E+04	4.52E-03	1.88E+04	
5.56E-03	4.90E+04	5.56E-03	1.83E+04	
6.54E-03	4.58E+04	6.54E-03	1.82E+04	
7.52E-03	2.76E+04	7.52E-03	7.46E+03	
8.55E-03	2.13E+04	8.55E-03	5.04E+03	
9.60E-03	1.75E+04	9.60E-03	3.97E+03	
1.97E-02	7.02E+03	1.97E-02	1.88E+03	
2.96E-02	5.07E+03	2.96E-02	1.63E+03	
4.00E-02	4.33E+03	4.00E-02	1.55E+03	
5.04E-02	3.81E+03	5.04E-02	1.43E+03	
6.00E-02	3.50E+03	6.00E-02	1.36E+03	
6.97E-02	2.91E+03	6.97E-02	1.08E+03	
8.01E-02	2.66E+03	8.01E-02	1.01E+03	
9.00E-02	2.40E+03	9.00E-02	9.12E+02	
1.01E-01	2.23E+03	1.01E-01	8.74E+02	
2.00E-01	9.84E+02	2.00E-01	3.59E+02	
4.02E-01	4.33E+02	4.02E-01	1.52E+02	

Table A4 (Continued) Integral LET for Interplanetary Galactic Cosmic Rays (Z=1-92) 100 mils Aluminum Shielding Values Do Not Include Design Margins

Solar Minin	num Activity	Solar Minimum Activity		
LET	LET Fluence	LET	LET Fluence	
(MeV*cm ² /mg)	(#/cm²/day)	(MeV*cm ² /mg)	(#/cm²/day)	
6.03E-01	2.90E+02	6.03E-01	1.10E+02	
7.96E-01	2.23E+02	7.96E-01	8.84E+01	
1.00E+00	1.79E+02	1.00E+00	7.22E+01	
2.01E+00	3.39E+01	2.01E+00	5.88E+00	
3.02E+00	1.43E+01	3.02E+00	2.03E+00	
3.99E+00	7.76E+00	3.99E+00	1.02E+00	
5.03E+00	4.59E+00	5.03E+00	5.81E-01	
5.99E+00	3.07E+00	5.99E+00	3.80E-01	
8.00E+00	1.55E+00	8.00E+00	1.90E-01	
1.01E+01	9.00E-01	1.01E+01	1.10E-01	
1.11E+01	7.17E-01	1.11E+01	8.75E-02	
1.20E+01	5.76E-01	1.20E+01	7.04E-02	
1.30E+01	4.67E-01	1.30E+01	5.71E-02	
1.40E+01	3.85E-01	1.40E+01	4.72E-02	
1.50E+01	3.16E-01	1.50E+01	3.88E-02	
1.60E+01	2.61E-01	1.60E+01	3.20E-02	
1.70E+01	2.20E-01	1.70E+01	2.71E-02	
1.80E+01	1.85E-01	1.80E+01	2.27E-02	
1.91E+01	1.54E-01	1.91E+01	1.89E-02	
2.00E+01	1.30E-01	2.00E+01	1.60E-02	
2.49E+01	4.45E-02	2.49E+01	5.50E-03	
3.00E+01	6.27E-04	3.00E+01	8.18E-05	
3.49E+01	6.86E-05	3.49E+01	1.06E-05	
4.01E+01	4.18E-05	4.01E+01	6.50E-06	
4.50E+01	2.83E-05	4.50E+01	4.42E-06	
5.00E+01	2.00E-05	5.00E+01	3.13E-06	
5.06E+01	1.92E-05	5.06E+01	3.00E-06	
5.55E+01	1.34E-05	5.55E+01	2.11E-06	
6.02E+01	9.38E-06	6.02E+01	1.49E-06	
6.53E+01	6.32E-06	6.53E+01	1.01E-06	
7.00E+01	4.40E-06	7.00E+01	7.01E-07	
7.50E+01	2.83E-06	7.50E+01	4.52E-07	
8.04E+01	1.65E-06	8.04E+01	2.63E-07	
8.52E+01	7.71E-07	8.52E+01	1.23E-07	
9.03E+01	1.94E-07	9.03E+01	3.10E-08	
9.57E+01	2.88E-08	9.57E+01	4.60E-09	
1.00E+02	1.19E-08	1.00E+02	1.89E-09	
1.01E+02	5.27E-09	1.01E+02	8.41E-10	
1.03E+02	2.54E-09	1.03E+02	4.05E-10	

Table A5 Integral LET for the October 1989 Solar Particle Event (Z=1-92) 100 mils Aluminum Shielding Values Do Not Include Design Margins

	Average Over Peak	Average Over Worst Day	Average Over Worst Week
LET	LET Fluence	LET Fluence	LET Fluence
(MeV*cm²/mg)	(#/cm ² /s)	(#/cm ² /s)	(#/cm ² /s)
1.00E-03	1.93E+05	5.21E+04	1.15E+04
2.01E-03	1.93E+05	5.21E+04	1.15E+04
3.01E-03	1.93E+05	5.20E+04	1.14E+04
4.02E-03	1.92E+05	5.17E+04	1.13E+04
5.01E-03	1.90E+05	5.11E+04	1.11E+04
6.03E-03	1.86E+05	5.02E+04	1.08E+04
7.02E-03	1.82E+05	4.90E+04	1.05E+04
7.97E-03	1.77E+05	4.76E+04	1.01E+04
8.95E-03	1.71E+05	4.60E+04	9.68E+03
1.01E-02	1.64E+05	4.40E+04	9.19E+03
1.99E-02	9.60E+04	2.55E+04	5.07E+03
2.99E-02	5.39E+04	1.43E+04	2.78E+03
4.00E-02	3.23E+04	8.56E+03	1.65E+03
4.98E-02	2.11E+04	5.59E+03	1.07E+03
6.00E-02	1.45E+04	3.84E+03	7.33E+02
6.97E-02	1.06E+04	2.81E+03	5.34E+02
8.01E-02	7.91E+03	2.09E+03	3.96E+02
9.00E-02	6.16E+03	1.63E+03	3.08E+02
9.99E-02	4.90E+03	1.29E+03	2.44E+02
2.00E-01	9.50E+02	2.51E+02	4.67E+01
3.01E-01	3.15E+02	8.31E+01	1.53E+01
4.02E-01	1.25E+02	3.32E+01	6.08E+00
5.01E-01	3.82E+01	1.01E+01	1.80E+00
6.03E-01	1.86E+01	4.94E+00	8.78E-01
7.01E-01	1.35E+01	3.58E+00	6.52E-01
8.05E-01	9.85E+00	2.62E+00	4.91E-01
9.04E-01	7.55E+00	2.02E+00	3.87E-01
1.00E+00	5.88E+00	1.57E+00	3.10E-01
2.01E+00	7.49E-01	2.06E-01	5.99E-02
3.02E+00	4.11E-01	1.13E-01	3.33E-02
3.99E+00	2.64E-01	7.29E-02	2.14E-02
5.03E+00	1.74E-01	4.80E-02	1.42E-02
6.06E+00	1.21E-01	3.36E-02	9.92E-03
7.04E+00	8.68E-02	2.40E-02	7.11E-03
8.00E+00	6.39E-02	1.77E-02	5.26E-03
8.99E+00	5.04E-02	1.40E-02	4.13E-03
1.01E+01	3.85E-02	1.07E-02	3.15E-03
2.00E+01	5.75E-03	1.60E-03	4.63E-04
2.52E+01	2.14E-03	5.95E-04	1.72E-04

Table A5 (Continued)Integral LET for the October 1989 Solar Particle Event (Z=1-92)100 mils Aluminum ShieldingValues Do Not Include Design Margins

	Average Over Peak	Average Over Worst Day	Average Over Worst Week
LET	LET Fluence	LET Fluence	LET Fluence
(MeV*cm ² /mg)	(#/cm ² /s)	(#/cm ² /s)	(#/cm ² /s)
3.00E+01	1.83E-05	5.10E-06	1.55E-06
3.53E+01	7.23E-07	2.01E-07	7.14E-08
4.01E+01	3.26E-07	9.08E-08	3.43E-08
4.50E+01	1.95E-07	5.44E-08	2.12E-08
5.00E+01	1.36E-07	3.78E-08	1.48E-08
5.55E+01	8.43E-08	2.35E-08	9.31E-09
6.02E+01	4.92E-08	1.37E-08	5.58E-09
6.53E+01	3.28E-08	9.12E-09	3.75E-09
7.00E+01	2.49E-08	6.92E-09	2.84E-09
7.50E+01	1.80E-08	5.00E-09	2.04E-09
8.04E+01	1.20E-08	3.34E-09	1.36E-09
8.52E+01	6.69E-09	1.86E-09	7.56E-10
9.03E+01	2.03E-09	5.64E-10	2.29E-10
9.46E+01	1.33E-10	3.71E-11	1.51E-11
1.00E+02	5.01E-11	1.39E-11	5.66E-12
1.01E+02	2.22E-11	6.19E-12	2.51E-12
1.03E+02	1.07E-11	2.99E-12	1.21E-12

Table A6Differential Fluxes from Solar Proton Events

100 mils Aluminum Shielding, CREME96 Note: Spectra were cut off at E =1 MeV and E=1000 MeV Values Do Not Include Design Margins

	Average Over Peak	Average Over Worst Day	Average Over Worst Week
Energy Proton Flux		Proton Flux	Proton Flux
(MeV)	(#/cm ² /s)	(#/cm ² /s)	(#/cm ² /s)
1.00	1.75E+03	4.62E+02	8.85E+01
2.00	2.68E+03	7.09E+02	1.36E+02
3.02	3.47E+03	9.17E+02	1.76E+02
4.04	4.11E+03	1.09E+03	2.09E+02
5.04	4.62E+03	1.22E+03	2.36E+02
6.03	5.03E+03	1.33E+03	2.58E+02
7.02	5.33E+03	1.41E+03	2.75E+02
8.06	5.56E+03	1.47E+03	2.88E+02
9.00	5.69E+03	1.51E+03	2.96E+02
10.05	5.76E+03	1.53E+03	3.01E+02
14.99	5.41E+03	1.44E+03	2.92E+02
20.03	4.50E+03	1.21E+03	2.52E+02
24.98	3.57E+03	9.65E+02	2.07E+02
30.31	2.73E+03	7.40E+02	1.64E+02
35.27	2.11E+03	5.75E+02	1.31E+02
40.49	1.61E+03	4.42E+02	1.04E+02
50.50	9.91E+02	2.73E+02	6.79E+01
60.43	6.33E+02	1.75E+02	4.58E+01
70.33	4.20E+02	1.17E+02	3.20E+01
79.63	2.94E+02	8.18E+01	2.33E+01
90.17	2.03E+02	5.65E+01	1.68E+01
100.69	1.44E+02	4.01E+01	1.24E+01
150.25	3.84E+01	1.06E+01	3.80E+00
200.77	1.39E+01	3.79E+00	1.50E+00
299.59	3.32E+00	8.62E-01	3.88E-01
400.31	1.16E+00	2.85E-01	1.39E-01
499.23	4.97E-01	1.16E-01	5.96E-02
605.64	2.07E-01	4.64E-02	2.54E-02
704.94	1.10E-01	2.48E-02	1.44E-02
798.17	6.61E-02	1.48E-02	9.03E-03
903.74	3.95E-02	8.88E-03	5.66E-03
995.41	2.65E-02	5.96E-03	3.94E-03

REPORT DOCUMENTATION PAGE				Form Approved OMB No. 0704-0188		
The public reportin data sources, gatt any other aspect of for Information Op notwithstanding ar valid OMB control PLEASE DO NOT	ng burden for this con hering and maintain of this collection of in erations and Reporny other provision of number. RETURN YOUR F	Ilection of informa ng the data neede formation, includi ts (0704-0188), 12 law, no person sh ORM TO THE AB	tion is estimated to average 1 d, and completing and reviewi ng suggestions for reducing th 15 Jefferson Davis Highway, 2 all be subject to any penalty fo DVE ADDRESS.	hour per respons ng the collection o is burden, to Dep Suite 1204, Arling or failing to comply	e, including of informatio artment of D ton, VA 222 y with a colle	the time for reviewing instructions, searching existing on. Send comments regarding this burden estimate or refense, Washington Headquarters Services, Directorate 022-4302. Respondents should be aware that ection of information if it does not display a currently
1. REPORT DA	TE (DD-MM-YYY	Y) 2. REPO	ORT TYPE			3. DATES COVERED (From - To)
4. TITLE AND	SUBTITLE				5a. CONT	RACT NUMBER
					5b. GRAN	NT NUMBER
					5c. PROC	GRAM ELEMENT NUMBER
6. AUTHOR(S)					5d. PROJ	JECT NUMBER
					5e. TASK NUMBER	
					5f. WORK	K UNIT NUMBER
7. PERFORMI	NG ORGANIZATI	ON NAME(S) A	ND ADDRESS(ES)		Į	8. PERFORMING ORGANIZATION REPORT NUMBER
9. SPONSORI	NG/MONITORING	GAGENCY NAM	IE(S) AND ADDRESS(ES)		10. SPONSORING/MONITOR'S ACRONYM(S)
						11. SPONSORING/MONITORING REPORT NUMBER
12. DISTRIBUTI	ON/AVAILABILI"	TY STATEMEN	r			
13. SUPPLEME	NTARY NOTES					
14. ABSTRACT						
15. SUBJECT T	ERMS					
16. SECURITY	CLASSIFICATIO	N OF:	17. LIMITATION OF ABSTRACT	18. NUMBER OF	19b. NAN	IE OF RESPONSIBLE PERSON
a. REPORT	a. REPORT b. ABSTRACT c. THIS PAGE PAGES 19b. TEL			EPHONE NUMBER (Include area code)		